. I Him of man

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 77,550

> E COURT CLERK, SUPRE Deputy C!

APR

Chief

1991

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

IN THE INTEREST OF J. H., a child,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

AMENDED PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

JOAN FOWLER Bureau Chief Senior Assistant Attorney General West Palm Beach, Florida

GEORGINA JIMENEZ-OROSA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 441510 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West alm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, was the Appellee before the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, and was the prosecution in the trial court, Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida. Respondent, J. H., a child, was the Appellant, and the defendant, respectively, in the courts below.

In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court, except that Petitioner may also be referred to as "the State."

References to the record on appeal will be made by the following symbols:

"R" = Record on Appeal

"SR" = Supplemental Record on Appeal

All emphasis has been added by Petitioner unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent, Jerus Herria a child, was charged with being a delinquent child in a petition that alleged that she possessed cocaine within 1,000 feet of a school (R. 57). The court appointed Assistant Public Defender, Gabriel Grasso, who prepared, signed and filed a motion to suppress on behalf of the child (R. 63-64).

At the beginning of the adjudicatory hearing, Mr. Levine, a certified legal intern, informed the court that the child was present, that he was ready, and that they were only waiting for the Assistant State Attorney to arrive (R. 4). There was an offthe-record pause, after which Assistant State Attorney Charles Kaplan came into the courtroom (R. 4). Mr. Kaplan commented for the benefit of the court that there was a motion to suppress which should be considered first. The prosecutor then handed Mr. Levine, as Respondent's attorney, "a copy of the police report" he had received the day before (R. 4). At that point in order to commence the hearing, the court announced for the record that "The child is present, with her lawyer." (R. 4). The "CONSENT TO APPEARANCE" form appears of record as entered in "Open Court" December 7, 1989, the day of the adjudicatory hearing. Respondent did not object at the time to being represented by Mr. Levine. And the record does not show any further comments on the issue by the court, the Assistant State Attorney, or Mr. Levine, the certified legal intern. The record does not reveal whether Mr. Grasso was in the courtroom.

Prior to taking testimony from the witnesses, the court announced it would simultaneously consider the motion to suppress and the state's evidence in support of adjudication (R. 6-7).

In order to maintain its burden, the State called Detective Michael Menghi to the stand first. Detective Menghi's testimony revealed that two Broward County Sheriff's Officers, using binoculars, set up a surveillance in a predominately black neighborhood. They positioned themselves across the street from an apartment complex where there had been "a lot of drug activity" to see if they could observe any drug transactions (R. 8-9). During the fifteen minutes that they were there, the officers observed what they thought were two separate drug transactions. The first transaction involved an unidentified male and another person, and apparently Appellant had nothing to do with that incident (R. 9).

Five minutes later, the officers watched two white females drive up and park. Detective Menghi testified that he has known the Respondent for several years $(R. 9).^1$ Detective Menghi saw the Respondent, who had been across the street, walk over to the car and speak to the passenger (R. 9). Detective Menghi saw Respondent reach into her shorts and pull something out of the crotch area (R. 9). Respondent and the female passenger then walked between two apartment buildings (R. 9). Detective Menghi

The trial court took judicial notice of Respondent's prior record (R. 51, 60, 61) and noting the child on several prior occasions had been found to be delinquent as a result of various prior felony drug offenses, understood the officer's testimony to mean that the Officer knew Respondent had "been involved in this type of thing before." (R. 39, 43).

observed Respondent open her hand and observed some type of hand to hand exchange between the two women (R. 9), although he could not observe what exactly was exchanged (R. 14). The white female then left; Respondent reached back into the crotch area of her shorts and also left (R. 10).

Upon completion of the transaction, Detective Menghi radioed the description of the Respondent to a marked police unit for them to detain the Respondent (R. 10). However, Respondent walked away from the area before the uniformed police officer arrived, and at that point the officers lost sight of Respondent. The officers remained in the area looking for Respondent, until Detective Menghi spotted her 30 to 45 minutes later riding in a car with two other females (R. 10). Respondent was "ducking down" trying to hide from the police, but Detective Menghi could observe and identify Respondent's hat and clothing (R. 40). officers followed the car until the car stopped at a convenience store approximately half-a-mile away (R. 10), where she was detained by Officer Philbrick (R. 11). Officer Philbrick brought Respondent outside, where Detective Menghi verified this was the same person he observed passing the contraband in the alley (R. 11).

Detective Menghi testified that when he confronted Respondent, he asked her "to take the cocaine out of her crotch." Appellant responded denying she was hiding anything. (R. 11) However, while standing there, Detective Menghi observed Respondent begin to move "something around with her thumb ... along her crotch area." (R. 11). At that point Detective Menghi

called a female police officer to conduct the search of Respondent (R. 11). The search revealed "a white, plastic baggie that contained 17 cocaine rocks." (R. 13)

After hearing the testimony of Detective Menghi, one out of four witnesses listed by the State, the court discussed the probable cause issue with counsel (R. 20-46), and after listening to both side's argument, denied the motion to suppress (R. 44). Respondent then changed her plea to nolo contendere "to the lesser included offense of possession of cocaine" reserving the right to appeal the denial of the motion to suppress (R. 45-46). The plea colloquy between the court and Respondent contains the following exchange:

THE COURT: Do you have any problems understanding what I'm talking about?

THE CHILD: No, sir.

THE COURT: Do you have any problems understanding what you (sic) lawyer is talking about?

THE CHILD: No, sir.

THE COURT: You and your lawyer have discussed this case, right?

THE CHILD: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: He's told you the different things you can do, like going to court (sic), making the State prove it, filing defensive motions, doing a plea like you're doing today, stuff like that?

THE CHILD: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Based on what you and he have talked about, is what you're doing by entering this plea the way that you want to handle this case?

THE CHILD: Yes, sir.

(R. 49). The court adjudicated Respondent delinquent, and sentenced her accordingly (R. 50-52).

Respondent filed its appeal with the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, alleging the trial court erred in denying her motion to suppress, and for the first time, arguing she had not waived her right to "counsel".

In its opinion filed February 13, 1991, the majority of the three-judge panel found the waiver argument dispositive, and without reaching the suppression issue, "reverse and remanded with direction to the trial court to conduct a new adjudicatory hearing after appellant is given the opportunity to withdraw her plea." The reason for the reversal was that:

The Broward County form does not state that appellant has a right to have "supervising attorney personally when required by the trial present Fla. Bar R. Governing the Law judge." School Civil and Criminal Practice Program, Rule 11-1.2(a). Nor appellant advised of that right at the time she entered her plea. We hold that without such information appellant could not have intelligently waived her right to be represented by a lawyer.

The Fourth District, however, also certified the following question as being one of great public importance:

Does the consent form used in Broward County's courts constitute a waiver of the indigent's right to have an attorney present at a hearing on motion to suppress and adjudication?

In the Interest of J.H., So.2d , 16 FLW D479 (Fla. 4th DCA February 13, 1991).

Judge Glickstein, while agreeing with the reversal and the certification, disagreed on the basis for the reversal, and on the waiver of counsel issue stated:

The [appellate] assistant public defender, to her credit, vigorously and successfully argued to the satisfaction of the majority -- that waiver did not occur. I disagree with her position on that point.

Judge Glickstein would have reversed on the suppression issue. Id.

And Judge Garrett concurred that "appellant did not intelligently waive her right to an attorney," but found the State had establish probable cause to arrest Respondent, thus validating the search and the denial of the motion to suppress. Id., 16 FLW at D480 (Garrett, J., concurring specially.)

Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court pursuant to the certified question was timely filed February 26, 1991. This Court accepted jurisdiction and issued a briefing schedule March 11, 1991. This proceeding follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In this particular case, Respondent signed a consent of appearance which fully informed her that Alan Levine was a Certified Legal Intern working under the supervision of the assistant public defender. Rule 11-1.2(a) requires the personal presence of the supervising attorney only when so required by the trial court. It is therefore clear that the Rule was not violated in this case, and that Respondent was not denied her right to representation by counsel.

Therefore, the question certified by the District Court of Appeal should be answered in the affirmative; the opinion filed February 13, 1991, quashed; and the cause remanded to the District Court to enter its affirmance of the trial court's denial of the motion to suppress.

However, should this Court answer the certified question in the negative, the State maintains that since this is a clarification or an interpretation of the Rule by this Court, this Court's holding <u>sub judice</u> should be given prospective application only, and not apply to the instant case as no violation of the Rule was shown by Respondent to have occurred in this particular case.

ARGUMENT

RESPONDENT WAIVED HER RIGHT TO HAVE THE COURT APPOINTED ASSISTANT PUBLIC **DEFENDER** PRESENT IN COURT WHEN WRITING, AGREED, IN TO REPRESENTED BY THE CERTIFIED LEGAL INTERN AND BY NOT OBJECTING TO SUCH REPRESENTATION BEFORE THE TRIAL COURT ON THE DATE OF THE ADJUDICATORY HEARING.

Finding that because the Broward County form does not state that Respondent has a right to have a "supervising attorney personally present when required by the trial judge." Fla. Bar. R. Governing the Law School Civil and Criminal Practice Program, Rule 11-1.2(a), the Fourth District held that without such information Respondent could not have intelligently waived her right to be represented by a lawyer. In the Interest of J.H., 16 FLW D479 (Fla. 4th DCA February 13, 1991). The Fourth District, nevertheless, certified the following question as being one of great public importance:

Does the consent form used in Broward County's courts constitute a waiver of the indigent's right to have an attorney present at a hearing on motion to suppress and adjudication?

Without first seeking to vacate her plea as an uncounseled plea. Respondent argued, before the 4th DCA, that because Rule 11-1.2(a) was not complied with before she was represented by the certified legal intern, she was not represented by counsel, and therefore, her adjudication was improper as she was denied her constitutional right to legal representation. For

Respondent to suggest that such representation by a Certified Legal Intern, duly qualified under Rule 11-1.3, violates the right to counsel, is clearly without merit. See, Wilson v. Wainwright, 474 So.2d 1162 (Fla. 1985).

The Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, in Chapter 11 - Rules Governing the Law School Civil and Criminal Practice Program, provide in pertinent part as follows:

11-1.1. Purpose

The bench and the bar are primarily responsible for providing competent services for all persons, including those unable to pay for these As one means of providing services. assistance to lawyer who represent clients unable to pay for such services and to encourage law schools to provide clinical instruction in trial work of varying kinds, the following rules are adopted.

11-1.2. Activities

- appear in any court or before any administrative tribunal in this state on behalf of any indigent person if the person on whose behalf he is appearing has indicated in writing his consent to that appearance and the supervising lawyer has also indicated in writing approval of that appearance. In such cases the supervising attorney shall be personally present WHEN REQUIRED BY THE TRIAL JUDGE who shall determine the extent of the eligible law student's participation in the proceeding.
- (d) In each case the written consent and approval referred to above shall be filed in the record of the case and shall be brought to the attention of the judge of the court or the presiding officer of the administrative tribunal.

-10 -

In the case at bar, the record is clear that the spirit and letter of the Rule were complied with, and that Respondent, by signing the "Consent to Appearance" (SR), not only agreed to being represented by Mr. Levine, but waived any argument that she was unaware she was not being represented by an "attorney". The consent form executed by Respondent was as follows:

TO THE CLERK OF THE CIRCUIT COURT

This is to certify that I hereby consent to having ALAN LEVINE appointed by the Office of the Public Defender to act in my defense.

I acknowledge that I have been advised and understand that ALAN LEVINE is a certified law student and has complied with Chapter 11 of the Rules of the Supreme Court Regulating the Florida Bar and is certified by the Supreme Court of the State of Florida and is supervised in this case by an attorney on the Staff of the Public Defender's Office.

DATED this 7th day of December, 1989.

(signed

APPROVAL OF APPEARANCE

As Assistant Public Defender and as the supervising Attorney, I hereby give my approval of his/her appearance in the above cited matter.

(initialed) Assistant Public Defender

(See SR). The copy of the consent form that appears in the record shows that the form was executed and <u>filed in open court</u> December 7, 1989, the day Respondent appeared before the court for the adjudicatory hearing as required by Rule 11-1.2(d).

Rule 11-1.2(a) also provides that the supervising attorney shall be personally present but only "when required by the trial judge who shall determine the extent of the eligible law student's participation in the proceeding." The record supports the inference, that since the consent form was filed in open court (SR), and in compliance with the requirements of Rule 11-1.2(a), the judge determined that the certified legal intern, Mr. Levine, was capable of participating in the adjudicatory hearing on behalf of Respondent, the judge allowed the hearing to proceed without the personal presence of Mr. Grosso (R. 4, 49).

The record also shows that the Motion to Suppress was signed and filed by the "Supervising Attorney" GABRIEL GRASSO, BAR NO. 793681, as Assistant Public Defender and Attorney for Appellant (R. 63-64). The record also shows that the Notice of Appeal was signed by Mr. Grasso, Assistant Public Defender, as Appellant's trial counsel (R. 68). The plea colloquy between the court and Respondent shows that Respondent conceded that Mr. Levine had discussed the case with her, and had apprised her of her options (R. 49). Thus Respondent entered a totally knowing and voluntary plea of nolo contendere without any coersion (R. 49-50). It is clear therefore that no violation of the Rule has been shown herein; that Respondent entered a voluntary plea, after waiving her right to be represented by a "licensed" attorney.

The State respectfully maintains that the record on appeal does not support the argument that Respondent was "denied the assistance of counsel at the preparation stage or at any other

stage of his trial." Aldridge v. State, 425 So.2d 1132, 1135 (Fla. 1983). Respondent claims that Rule 11-1.2(a) must be read to require the actual presence in court of the supervising counsel. The State submits that the Rule only requires the personal presence of the supervising attorney "when required by the trial judge." In the case at bar, the trial court determined the certified legal intern was eligible and qualified to participate in the defense of Respondent, and having the consent of Respondent (SR), did not require Mr. Grosso to be personally present at the adjudicatory and change of plea hearing (R. 4-52). The opinion of the 4th DCA should, therefore, be quashed as not supported by the record.

Unlike the defendants in <u>In the Interest of L.S.</u>, 560 So.2d 425 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); <u>In the Interest of A.R.</u>, 554 So.2d 640 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); <u>In the Interest of C.B.</u>, 546 So.2d 447 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); and <u>Cheatham v. State</u>, 364 So.2d 83 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), the record herein refutes Respondent's allegations that she was "unknowingly represented by a person not a member of the Florida Bar." (SR). The State, thus, finds it unconscionable that the Broward Public Defender's Office are able to utilize certified legal interns to ease their case load burdens, leave the intern unsupervised, and then —— as in this case, as well as <u>L.S.</u>, <u>A.R.</u>, and <u>C.B.</u> —— attempt to take advantage of their own misconduct in following the mandates of Chapter 11 to obtain reversal of an otherwise valid and legal conviction.

The State maintains that the certified question must be answered in the AFFIRMATIVE. This is so because the Rule does not require the personal presence of the supervising attorney until the trial court so requires it. Further, the consent form does inform the defendant that Mr. Levine is a certified legal intern and has complied with Chapter 11 of the Rules of the Supreme Court Regulating the Florida Bar (SR). Thus, from this record it may be presumed that Mr. Grasso or Mr. Levine informed Respondent of his right to have Mr. Grasso present in the courtroom should she become dissatisfied with Mr. Levine's representation, or if Mr. Levine was doing anything contrary to her understandings or that did not meet with her approval. 2 this case no complaints were ever made by Respondent regarding Mr. Levine's legal services to her, but rather, when questioned by the court, Respondent stated she was well satisfied with his services (R. 49). It is clear therefore that the opinion of the 4th DCA must be quashed, and the matter reversed to the District Court to enter its affirmance of the conviction.

Further, even should this Court agree with the District Court that the consent form does not fully inform the defendant of his rights to have the supervising attorney present at all times, and determines the answer to the certified question is in

Because the record does not show what the Public Defender's Office actually told Respondent, and based on the nature of the claim raised on appeal, the State submits that the proper method to decide this case should have been to affirm, without prejudice for Respondent to file a motion for post-conviction relief under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850, at which time an evidentiary hearing could be held to determine what Respondent was told regarding the Rule when she was given the "consent form" to sign.

the negative, the State respectfully submits this Court could enter its opinion modifying the consent form as deemed appropriate and necessary, but still quash the opinion of February 13, 1991, as not being supported by the facts and circumstances of this particular case. And in the interest of justice, the State urges this Court to put the Office of the Public Defender on notice that they must properly supervise their legal interns and follow the requirements of Chapter 11 or suffer the consequences of not being allowed to use this useful and necessary method of training future public defenders coming out of our law schools.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based on the above and foregoing arguments and authorities cited therein, the State of Florida respectfully requests this Honorable Court answer the certified question in the AFFIRMATIVE, QUASH the opinion of the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, filed February 13, 1991, and AFFIRM the trial court's denial of Respondent's motion to suppress.