5/28

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J WHITE

MAY 6 / 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 77,550

IN THE INTEREST OF J. H., a child,

Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
Governmental Center/9th Floor
301 North Olive Avenue
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-2150

CHERRY GRANT Assistant Public Defender

Counsel for Respondent

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent was the Appellant before the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, and the defendant in the trial court, Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Broward County, Florida. Petitioner was the Appellee and the prosecution, respectively, in the courts below.

In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The following symbol will be used:

R = Record on Appeal

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner's statement of the case and facts except as specified below.

Respondent rejects Petitioner's statement that "The court appointed Assistant Public Defender, Gabriel Grasso, who prepared, signed and filed a motion to suppress on behalf of the child." Petitioner's brief at 2. Respondent states that the court appointed the Public Defender's Office for the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit to represent Respondent. A motion to suppress signed by Mr. Grasso appears in the record at 63-64.

The "Consent to Appearance" form bears a stamp "filed in open court" but no mention of that form otherwise appears in the record. The form does not have a signature indicating "approval of appearance" by an assistant public defender, but bears the initials F.D. (SR).

Respondent disputes Petitioner's claim that "The record does not reveal whether Mr. Grasso was in the courtroom." Petitioner's brief at 2. The first page of the record reflects "Appearances: Alan H. Schreiber, Public Defender, by Alan Levine, Certified Legal Intern, appearing on behalf of the child" (R 1). The second page of the record reflects "Also present: January Harman a child and January, mother of child" (R 2).

As an alternative claim in the district court, Respondent challenged the denial of the motion to suppress on the ground that there was no probable cause for Respondent's arrest and search.

The district court did not resolve the claim¹ because it found that Respondent had been improperly denied counsel at the motion to suppress hearing. Respondent therefore neither agrees nor disagrees with Petitioner's factual recitation concerning the officers' observations, etc.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In the event this Court were to reverse the district court's opinion, the case would need to be remanded to that court for resolution of the issue.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent was represented at her motion to suppress and adjudicatory hearing by a certified legal intern with no supervising attorney present. Unless the supervising attorney is present, representation by a certified legal intern alone is a violation of the constitutional right to counsel and requires a knowing and voluntary waiver of that right. No such waiver was shown in the case at bench. Respondent is therefore entitled to have her adjudication and sentence vacated and have the case remanded for a new motion to suppress/adjudicatory hearing conducted with counsel.

#### ARGUMENT

RESPONDENT DID NOT KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY WAIVE HER RIGHT TO COUNSEL GUARANTEED BY THE SIXTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

The United States Supreme Court in <u>In Re Gault</u>, 387 U.S. 81, 87 S.Ct. 1428, 19 L.Ed.2d 336 (1967), held that juveniles are entitled to court-appointed counsel in delinquency proceedings unless that right it knowingly waived. At issue in the instant case is a combined motion to suppress and adjudicatory hearing, a proceeding at which the right to counsel applies. The question then is did Respondent have counsel, and if not, did she waive that right.

At her hearing, Respondent was represented by a certified legal intern not an attorney. No written waiver of counsel was ever filed in the instant case and the trial court at no time made any inquiry in that regard. Accordingly, the Fourth District Court reversed Respondent's adjudication of delinquency and remanded for further proceedings. In The Interest of J.H., 16 F.L.W. D479 (Fla. 4th DCA Feb. 13, 1991). The District Court's decision was correct and should be affirmed. The certified question should be answered in the negative.

Petitioner claims that representation by an intern does not violate the right to counsel and that any claim otherwise is "clearly without merit," while simultaneously claiming that the permission form used in the case constitutes a waiver of counsel. Petitioner is wrong on both claims.

The right of indigent defendants to have assistance of counsel has been strictly guarded by the courts. Gideon v. Wainwright, 372

U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963) (felony charges);

Powell v. Alabama, 278 U.S. 45, 53 S.Ct. 55, 77 L.Ed.2d 158 (1932)

(capital cases); Argersinger v. Hamlin, 407 U.S. 25, 92 S.Ct. 2006,

32 L.Ed.2d 530 (1972) (misdemeanors involving deprivation of liberty); In Re Gault, supra (juvenile proceedings). The right to court-appointed counsel presupposes appointment of counsel fully accredited by competence and moral standards to practice law. Huckelbury v. State, 337 So.2d 400 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976). Counsel, as employed in the constitutional provisions, means a duly licensed and qualified lawyer. People v. Cox, 146 N.E.2d 19 (Ill.App. 1957); People v. Washington, 348 N.Y.S.2d 691 (1976); Baker v. State, 130 P. 820 (Okl. 1912).

Respondent was not represented by a lawyer but by an intern. The state argues that Chapter 11 of The Rules Regulating the Florida Bar have somehow done away with Respondent's constitutional right to counsel. Obviously neither this Court nor the Florida Bar, by rule or otherwise, can abrogate constitutional requirements of counsel. NAACP v. Button, 371 U.S. 415, 83 S.Ct. 328 (1963) (statute prohibiting NAACP from advising and referring potential litigants to particular attorneys or groups of attorneys under guise of regulating the legal profession violated First and Fourteenth Amendments); Johnson v. Avery, 393 U.S. 483, 89 S.Ct. (1969) (prison regulation which prohibited inmates from assisting others in filing writs under guise of controlling practice of law violated federal right to court access); Sperry v. Florida ex rel. Florida Bar, 373 U.S. 379, 83 S.Ct. 1322 (1963) (Florida could not enjoin person registered to practice before U.S. Patent Office from performing functions necessary to that practice even though it constituted practice of law and person not licensed by Florida Bar). Certainly this Court in adopting The Rules Regulating the Florida Bar never envisioned creating a group of nonlawyers authorized to practice law, but only to represent poor people.

Chapter 11 of the rules does nothing more than it purports to do: It allows law students, who like all other lay persons are not otherwise allowed to practice law, to appear and practice under certain limited conditions. For instance, Rule 11-1.2 requires, as a condition of representation, that the indigent person indicate in writing his consent to the appearance and that the supervising lawyer also indicate in writing approval of that appearance. rule further requires that the trial judge determine the extent of the eliqible student's participation in the proceeding, and that the written consent and approval be filed in the court of the case and be brought to the attention of the judge. Rule 11-1.3 requires that an attorney introduce the law student to the court. Rule 11-1.8 authorizes the representation of an indigent by a recent law school graduate provided that the supervising attorney certify that he or she will assume the duties and responsibilities of the supervising attorney as provided in other provisions (Rules 11-1.2 and 11-1.13) of Chapter 11.

But merely complying with these conditions does not necessarily fulfill the constitutional right to counsel; those requirements are different. "Distinctions are made between criminal cases where constitutional standards require representation by counsel, and civil and other criminal cases. In the former, the student must be accompanied in court by a member

of the bar who bears ultimate and immediate responsibility for the case and the student's work. In the latter, the student may or may not have to be accompanied by counsel." Bar Admission Rules and Student Practice Rules at 916 (Klein Edit. 1978). While there is no constitutional impediment to an intern working with or under the direction of an attorney, "only a member of the bar is competent to undertake to represent a defendant without supervision." People v. Perez, 155 Cal.Rptr. 176, 182 (Cal. 1979).

Direct and in-court supervision of interns is constitutionally required if the person being represented has a constitutional right to counsel, whether or not a particular bar rule requires it. Recognition of that fact seems implicit in Cheatham v. State, 346 So.2d 83 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), cert. denied 372 So.2d 471 (1979). That case appears to stand for the proposition that the actual insupervising attorney court presence of the is required, notwithstanding the qualified language of Rule 11-1.12. Indeed courts around the country have recognized constitutional requirement when dealing with student interns.

In <u>People v. Perez</u>, <u>supra</u>, a defendant was represented at a felony trial, in part, by a student intern (who was awaiting bar examination results) certified by the California Bar. The defendant consented in writing to representation by the intern under the supervision of a named deputy public defender. The trial was conducted by the intern assisted by the public defender who interposed objections to evidence, approved jury instructions and verdict forms, participated in conferences with the court and prosecution counsel, and in other ways actively participated in the defense. 155 Cal. Rptr. at 178. The California Supreme Court

found that the intern's participation in the case did not deprive the defendant os his right to assistance of counsel and California's student practice rule was not violative of the Sixth Amendment because:

The defendant, in other words, is not merely represented by a student who has not been admitted to the bar; he is represented by an experienced member of the bar who serves as counsel of record, undertakes personal and immediate supervision of the student's performance, and assumes responsibility for the conduct of the defense.

By so limiting the program to approved and qualified students, and by requiring the personal and immediate supervision of experienced counsel, the Rules provide reasonable assurance that the defendant will receive competent representation.

Id. at 179. Similar results have been reached by the courts in Louisiana, State v. Daniels, 346 So.2d 672 (La. 1977), and Michigan, People v. Masonis, 58 Mich. App. 615, 228 N.W.2d 489 (1975), where the bar rule in effect required the in-court supervision of interns and the rule was complied with. (Copies of the rules of Louisiana, Michigan, and California at the time of the decisions attached as appendix.)

Unlike the cases cited above, Respondent did not have the benefit of having an attorney present and participating in her adjudicatory and suppression hearing. The record reflects that while an attorney signed the original motion to suppress and someone initialed the consent form, the intern alone appeared, independently conducted the hearing and counseled Respondent

exercising his own independent judgment.<sup>2</sup> In other words, Respondent was without constitutionally required counsel. Unless Respondent waived that right, she is entitled to a new hearing both on her motion to suppress and at her adjudicatory hearing.

Florida Rule of Juvenile Procedure 8.290 implements the requirement of providing counsel in juvenile proceedings. The rule requires that any waiver of counsel be made in writing, and further provides the child:

...shall not be deemed to have waived the assistance of counsel until the entire process of offering counsel has been completed and a thorough inquiry into the child's comprehension of that offer and his capacity to make the choice intelligently and understandingly has been made.

8.290(b)(2), <u>Fla.R.Juv.P.</u>; <u>see also Fla.R.Crim.P.</u> 3.111(d); <u>Mansfield v. State</u>, 430 So.2d 586 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983).

No written waiver of counsel was ever filed in the instant case and the trial court at no time made any inquiry in that regard. Petitioner argues that the form titled "Consent to Appearance" filed December 7, 1989, the date of Respondent's motion to suppress/adjudicatory hearing constitutes a waiver of counsel. But the form filed in this case is not a waiver of counsel. It is not a waiver if for no other reason that it simply does not contain an express waiver of an attorney; the form, standing alone, does not meet the constitutional requirements necessary to show a waiver of counsel. VonMoltke v. Gillies, 332 U.S. 708, 68 S.Ct. 316 (1948); Boyd v. Dutton, 405 U.S. 1, 92 S.Ct. 759 (1972) and cases

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Appearing in court, preparing legal pleadings, giving legal advice, etc. all constitute the practice of law. <u>State ex rel.</u> <u>Florida Bar v. Sperry</u>, 190 So.2d 587, 591 (Fla. 1962).

cited therein. Further, no inquiry concerning counsel appears in the instant record. See Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525 (1975).

Petitioner would like to draw numerous inferences in this case to supports its position that a waiver has occurred. The first inference is that because the consent form was filed on the same day as the hearing, the trial judge must necessarily have been aware of it and must necessarily have determined that the intern was eligible, qualified, and capable of conducting Respondent's defense without his supervisor being present. Petitioner's brief No such inference can be drawn. The record does not disclose that Mr. Levine's status as an intern was ever brought to the court's attention as required by Rule 11-1.2(a) and (d). Further, the trial judge throughout these proceedings referred to Mr. Levine as Respondent's "lawyer." (R 4, 49). These are hardly facts consistent with Petitioner's claim that Respondent knowingly waived her right to a full fledged lawyer. Rather, like the defendant in People v. Miller, 152 Cal. Rptr. 707 (Cal. App. 1979), the record fails to disclose that Respondent was ever informed that she had a right to have a licensed attorney from the Public Defender's Office conduct her defense or to insist on a lawyer's active participation in it. These deficiencies and the potential for confusion are further compounded by the fact noted previously that the trial judge continually referred to the intern as an attorney. See In Re Moore, 380 N.E.2d 917 (1978).

What Petitioner asks this Court to do is infer a waiver of a basic constitutional right from an essentially silent record. A voluntary waiver of counsel cannot be presumed from the record in

this case because it is silent in that regard. <u>Drago v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 874, 876 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982); <u>see Boykin v. Alabama</u>, 395 U.S. 238 (1969). Without such a waiver, and not having had counsel, Respondent is entitled to a new motion to suppress and adjudicatory hearing. <u>C.B. v. State</u>, 546 So.2d 447 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); <u>L.S. v. State</u>, 560 So.2d 425 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); <u>A.R. v. State</u>, 554 So.2d 640 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989).

Finally, Petitioner intimates that a ruling in Respondent's favor will somehow be the death knell for the student practice program and use of interns by the Public Defender offices. is simply not so, as demonstrated by the cases of Masonis, Daniels, and Perez, which involved active and immediate supervision of students by attorneys. Though it may be cheaper to let unsupervised students represent poor people that hardly justifies the action, even if it were constitutionally permissible. See The Florida Bar. In Re Advisory Opinion HRS Nonlawyer Counsel, 547 So.2d 909 (Fla. 1989). The goal of any student practice program should be to educate the student so that he or she may be a better lawyer once admitted to the bar. That education is accomplished by having an experienced attorney present and supervising a student, ready to intercede if necessary and to provide advice along the way. When dealing with cases involving the right to counsel, that requirement is a constitutional requirement.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and the authorities cited therein, Respondent respectfully requests this Court affirm the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal and answer the certified question in the negative..